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OAH CASE NO. 2008031002 

DECISION 

Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Darrell L. Lepkowsky, Office of Administrative 

Hearings (OAH), State of California, heard this matter in San Juan Capistrano, California, 

on December 8, 10, 11, 12, 15, and 16, 2008. 

Advocates Vikki Rice and Dr. Susan Burnett represented Student’s Mother, who 

attended three days of the hearing. Student was present at hearing on the afternoon of 

December 11, 2008, when he testified on his behalf. 

Ricardo Soto, Attorney at Law, represented the Capistrano Unified School District 

(District). He was joined briefly on December 11, 2008, by attorney Airionna Whitaker 

from his law firm. District Legal Specialist Kim Gaither attended every day of hearing 

except for the morning of December 15, 2008, when program specialist Leisa Winston 

was present on the District’s behalf. 
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Student, through his Mother, filed an initial request for a due process hearing on 

March 26, 2008.1 He filed a second amended complaint on May 30, 2008. OAH granted 

the parties’ motion for continuance on July 2, 2008. At hearing, the matter was 

continued to allow for written closing arguments by January 5, 2009, when the record 

was closed and the matter was submitted. 

                                              

1 Student’s original complaint was filed before he turned 18. Student’s first and 

second amended complaints were filed after he turned 18. No party has contested 

either Student’s or his Mother’s standing with regard to the filing of the complaints in 

this case. 
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ISSUES2/ 3

2 The issues are those determined at the prehearing conference in this matter 

held on October 29, 2008, with the exception of Issues II and III as identified in the order 

following prehearing conference. Student withdrew issues II and III in his written closing 

argument. 

3 At hearing, Student raised a contention that the District had failed to provide 

him and his Mother with access to his school records. The District responded that it had 

agreed to provide access to the records but would only provide a copy if Mother paid 

for the copying costs. The ALJ ordered that the District provide a time during the 

hearing for Mother and her advocates to review the records, specifically to determine if 

the records for which they already had copies were incomplete. The District provided 

the access. Student did not indicate that he was missing any of his records. Student 

again raised the issue in his closing brief, requesting that the ALJ order the District to 

provide him with a copy of his records. Since the issue of access to his records was not 

raised as an issue for hearing in the prehearing conference order, and therefore not 

addressed by the District at hearing or in its closing brief, the ALJ declines to address 

the issue in this Decision. 

 

1. Whether the District denied Student a free appropriate public education 

(FAPE) by failing to implement his individualized education plans (IEPs) in school years 

2006 – 2007 and 2007 – 2008 with regard to the following designated instruction and 

services: 

A) 30 sessions per year of the reading program Fast ForWord;4 

                                              

4 The Fast ForWord set of training programs were created by Drs. Michael 

Merzenich and Bill Jenkins from the University of California, San Francisco Medical 
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Center, and Drs. Paula Tallal and Steven Miller of Rutgers University, New Jersey. A 

computer-based game program, made available in 1997 by a company known as 

Scientific Learning Corporation (SLC), Fast ForWord is a product of research in the 

science of brain plasticity, a term used to describe the concept that the brain changes as 

we learn new skills. The claim is that the technology acoustically alters speech sounds so 

as to be successfully differentiated by children with language difficulties. The program 

consists of seven individual training games, or exercises, generally administered for 100 

minutes, five days a week for six to eight weeks. It is recommended that an adult 

monitor knowledgeable in behavior management techniques be present throughout the 

testing. For this reason, and due to the cost of purchase of a software license from SLC, 

the program is expensive. (See F.P. v. North Los Angeles Regional Center (OAH August 

28, 2003) No. 2003070385 at p. 3.) 

B) Speech and language services two times a week for 45 minutes each session; 

C) Tutoring in mathematics three times a week for one hour each session. 

2. Whether the District violated the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

(IDEA) and Education Code sections 56400, subdivisions (c) and (d), and 56363, 

subdivision (b)(11), by failing to offer his Mother counseling and training, and access to 

accurate information, specialized training, and peer-to-peer community support. 

3. Whether the District denied Student a FAPE by committing the following 

procedural violations: 

A) Failing to give Student prior written notice of the reasons why the District was 

refusing to implement Student’s IEP with regard to Fast ForWord, tutoring in 

mathematics, and/or provision of speech and language services, for the IEPs 

dated April 6, 2006, April 26, 2006, May 26, 2006, September 28, 2006, January 

5, 2007, and September 11, 2007. 
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B) Failing to have an appropriate IEP team member present at the April 6, 2006 

IEP team meeting who was qualified to interpret the educational implications 

of the District-funded assessment conducted by Maria Abramson. 

C) Failing to ensure the presence of an administrative designee with authority to 

approve services recommended by Student’s IEP team at the May 26, 2006 IEP 

team meeting. 

D) Failing to provide Student’s Mother with reports of his progress on goals and 

objectives at any time from March 26, 2006, until the present. 

REQUESTED REMEDIES 

In his closing brief, Student requests that the ALJ order compensatory education 

in the areas of Fast ForWord, speech and language, and tutoring in mathematics, for 

three hours a day, five days a week, for a period of two years, which Student contends 

would bring him closer to grade and age level in functional skills. 

Student also requests that the ALJ order the District to reimburse his Mother for 

her out-of-pocket expenses, including expenses related to hiring her advocates who 

provided Mother with the counseling and training that should have been provided by 

the District, and reimbursement for costs of transportation to and from the advocates’ 

office. 

CONTENTIONS OF THE PARTIES 

Student contends that the District substantively denied him a FAPE when it failed 

to implement his IEPs during the 2006 – 2007 and 2007 – 2008 school years. Specifically, 

Student asserts that the IEPs in question offered him a reading program called Fast 

ForWord, to be provided by a certified speech pathologist through a non-public agency 

(NPA) but that the District never provided Student with access to those services. Student 

further contends that his IEPs offered him speech and language services, first for one 
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55-minute session a week, and later for two 45-minute sessions a week, but that the 

District never provided Student with the specified speech and language services. Finally, 

Student contends that his IEPs required the District to provide him with math tutoring 

three times a week but that he was never provided with any tutoring. 

Student also alleges that the District was required to offer his Mother counseling 

and training, and access to accurate information, specialized training, and peer-to-peer 

community support, all of which it failed to offer. Student also alleges that the District 

committed several procedural violations that denied him a FAPE. Student alleges that 

the District failed to give his Mother prior written notice of the reasons why it would not 

fully implement his IEP, failed to have an appropriate IEP team member present at the 

April 6, 2006 IEP team meeting who was qualified to interpret the educational 

implications of a District-funded assessment, failed to have a District administrator 

present at the May 26, 2006 IEP meeting who had authority to approve services offered 

by the District IEP team members to Student, and failed to provide Student’s Mother 

with reports of his progress on goals and objectives at any time from March 26, 2006, 

until the present. 

The District denies that it failed to implement Student’s IEPs. It acknowledges that 

Student’s IEPs provided him with speech and language services, Fast ForWord through 

an NPA, and math tutoring. However, the District contends it attempted to provide 

Student with all services indicated in his IEPs but was unable to do so through the 

actions, or lack thereof, of Student and/or his Mother. Additionally, the District contends 

that even though Student did not receive the services he did not demonstrate any loss 

of educational benefit because Student successfully passed both the English and 

Mathematics sections of the California high school exit exam (CAHSEE) and graduated 

high school with a regular diploma. The District made no contentions in its opening 

statement at hearing or in its closing brief with regard to the procedural violations 
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alleged by Student. With regard to Student’s requested remedies, the District contends 

that Student has not shown that he is entitled to compensatory education because he 

was able to successfully pass the CAHSEE and graduate from high school without 

additional services. The District further contends that Student’s mother is not entitled to 

reimbursement for fees paid to Dr. Burnett which were in the nature of advocacy 

services, which cannot be reimbursed, rather than parent training services. 

FACTUAL FINDINGS 

BACKGROUND 

1. Student, who turned 18 on April 2, 2008, has been eligible for special 

education and related services since he was approximately seven years old. Student was 

first found eligible under the classification of specific learning disability (SLD). On 

December 1, 2006, Student’s IEP team changed his primary eligibility from SLD to 

traumatic brain injury (TBI). Student remained eligible for special education until his 

graduation with a regular diploma from San Clemente High School on June 18, 2008. 

Student is now attending community college. During the entire time he was eligible for 

special education services, Student resided with his Mother in the District’s boundaries. 

2. Student was first assessed for an auditory processing deficit in 2004 by 

audiologist Maria Abramson. Ms. Abramson recommended that Student receive basic 

auditory training in conjunction with the Lindamood-Bell5 reading program he was 

                                              
5 The Lindamood-Bell reading program is designed to help students who have 

weak concept imagery, language problems, and difficulty following directions, etc. The 

students are taught how to create images through the structure of words. It is a gradual 

progression from a small unit to a whole page, or a gestalt. The ultimate purpose is for 

the students to implement strategies for themselves to assist them with accessing 
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reading. (See Student v. Coronado Unified School District (OAH May 28, 2008) No. 

2007120415 at p. 6.) 

scheduled to receive from the District in order to address his auditory processing 

deficits. The District provided Student the program as recommended by Abramson. In 

2005, Student filed a due process complaint against the District with the Special 

Education Hearing Office (SEHO), the predecessor to OAH. Student and his mother were 

represented by an attorney in the proceedings. The parties entered into a settlement 

agreement with regard to this due process complaint. As a result of the settlement, the 

District agreed to fund a central auditory processing disorder assessment for which it 

again contracted Abramson. Abramson found that Student continued to have auditory 

processing deficits. 

3. Student has had difficulty with academics since he was first found eligible 

for special education. Although originally determined to have an average intelligence 

quotient (IQ), Student continued to fall more and more behind his grade level in 

mathematics and reading. 

4. For example, the District administered the Woodcock-Johnson III (WJ III) 

assessment test to Student approximately every three years he was in school as part of 

his triennial assessments. While Student’s test scores indicated he was six months 

behind grade level in broad mathematic skills based on the WJ III when he was tested at 

grade 2.7, by the time he was tested at grade 11.2, Student was only performing at 

grade level 6.6, which was 4.6 years behind grade level. In broad reading, Student was 

1.3 years behind grade level when tested on the WJ III at grade 2.7, but tested at 6.4 

years behind grade level when tested on the WJ III at grade 11.2. 

5. Prior to March, 2006, before the time period covered by the statute of 

limitations in this case, the District aggressively addressed Student’s reading needs, 
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including providing him with the Lindamood-Bell reading program through a non-

public agency, and providing him with basic auditory training. However, other than 

accommodations in the classroom, the District did not specifically address Student’s 

difficulties in mathematics prior to the time period covered by the instant case. 

Additionally, although Student had received speech and language services up to 

approximately third grade, the District did not again offer those services to him until 

2006. 

6. The CAHSEE consists of two sections: an English Language Arts section 

and a Mathematics section. Student took the CAHSEE several times during high school. 

He passed the English Language Arts section in November 2007, with a score of 365. 

Student passed the Mathematics section in February 2008, also with a score of 365. 

Student was able to pass the Mathematics section without using a calculator, which 

would have been permissible under the testing protocols. 

FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT STUDENT’S IEPS 

7. A student with exceptional needs is legally entitled to a free appropriate 

public education that addresses those needs. Under state and federal law and federal 

precedent, one of the factors used in determining whether a school district provided a 

FAPE to a student is whether the services it provided to the student conformed to his or 

her IEP. A failure to implement any provision of the IEP violates a student’s right to a 

FAPE where the failure has been determined to be material. A student does not have to 

demonstrate that he or she suffered educational harm in order to prevail on a claim that 

a district failed to implement his or her IEP. 

Failure to Provide the Fast ForWord Reading Program 

8. Student contends that the District offered him the Fast ForWord reading 

program in his IEP dated June 7, 2006, but thereafter failed to provide him with the full 

Accessibility modified document



10 

amount of sessions it offered to him. The District asserts that it provided the program to 

Student pursuant to his IEP by reimbursing Mother for the costs of the private provider 

selected by Mother since it had no ability to legally enter into a direct contract with the 

provider, who was not yet certified by the State of California as a non-public agency. The 

District further contends that once the provider obtained the proper certification, it 

signed a contract with her but that Student thereafter failed to contact the provider to 

arrange attendance at the program. 

9. Speech pathologist Barbara Pliha,6 who is presently the Director of the 

Reading & Language Center, a non-public agency, administered a speech and language 

assessment to Student in February 2006. Pliha’s report references an auditory processing 

assessment administered to Student in January, 2006, by audiologist Maria Abramson, in 

which Abramson found that Student continued to suffer from auditory processing 

deficits. Pliha’s report indicated that Abramson recommended that Student receive the 

Fast ForWord reading program, which trains in perception of fine grain acoustic 

differences, which is necessary for fluent reading decoding skills. 

6 Ms. Pliha has a Master of Sciences degree in Education, with an emphasis in 

reading, and a Masters of Arts degree in Communicative Disorders, both from California 

State University, Fullerton. She has over 40 years of experience as a teacher both in 

regular and special education, and over 20 years of experience as a reading specialist 

and speech pathologist. 

10. Pliha tested Student in the areas of receptive and expressive language 

skills using the Comprehensive Assessment of Spoken Language (CASL). Student’s 

composite scores on the CASL ranged from below average to low average. Neither the 

administration of this assessment nor the results obtained by Pliha are at issue in this 

proceeding. 
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11. Pliha noted in her report that Student’s spoken language with regard to 

articulation skills and speech intelligibility were within normal limits, having improved 

without any apparent intervention since Student was assessed by the Reading & 

Language Center in December 2004. 

12. However, Pliha also noted that Student was functioning in the very low 

average range in core language skills, with his syntactic skills being the weakest. Pliha 

stated that Student’s deficits in syntactic and semantic skills impacted his knowledge of 

grammar rules and word order in both written and oral communication. She stated that 

the test scores indicated that Student also had deficits in supralinguistic language 

(making inferences and interpreting ambiguous statements). Pliha recommended that 

Student receive direct speech and language instruction to address these deficits since 

improvement in the areas of deficit would affect Student’s verbal and written expression 

as well as reading comprehension. 

13. Pliha also recommended, in accord with audiologist Abramson that 

Student should complete the Fast ForWord program to target auditory processing of 

information, auditory processing of linguistic information at the syllable, word, and 

sentence levels, auditory memory, and reading decoding and comprehension. Pliha 

opined that the computerized format of Fast ForWord would probably be the most 

acceptable form of intervention for Student. 

14. Abramson’s January 2006 report and Pliha’s February 2006 report were 

reviewed by Student’s IEP team at an IEP meeting on April 6, 2006. Mother requested 

that the District provide Student with the Fast ForWord program pursuant to the 

recommendations of both Abramson and Pliha. The District did not reject the 

recommendations at this meeting; rather, the District stated that it needed to evaluate 

Pliha’s report and also wished to get further testing from her. The IEP team agreed to 

continue the meeting to a later date. 
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15. Pliha administered a post instruction academic assessment7 to Student on 

May 4, 2006. She administered the Comprehensive Test of Phonological Processing 

(CTOPP), the Lindamood Auditory Conceptualization Test – Third Edition (LAC-3), one 

subtest of the Woodcock Reading Mastery Tests – Revised (Form G), the Gray Oral 

Reading Test – Fourth Edition (GORT-4), and the Gates – MacGinite Reading Tests, 

Fourth Edition (Level 7/9, Form T). 

7 Federal statutes and regulations refer to testing for special education purposes 

as an “evaluation.” California statutes and regulations refer to the same testing as an 

“assessment.” Although many of the assessments administered to Student were 

described as “evaluations” by the person administering the test, for the sake of 

uniformity the ALJ will refer to such testing as “assessments” pursuant to the 

terminology employed in California. 

16. Pliha noted that the purpose of the testing was to compare Student’s 

present reading skills with the results of testing prior to his receipt of reading 

intervention from the Lindamood-Bell program which Student had received through the 

Reading & Language Center. Pliha noted that Student showed improvement in 

phonological awareness, word attack skills, auditory processing/phonemic awareness of 

the number and order of speech sounds in one – syllable words, and in phonemic and 

syllable changes in multi – syllable words. However, Pliha’s testing also indicated that 

Student’s reading scores on the GORT-4 in the areas of rate, accuracy, and 

comprehension did not improve. Student’s rate and accuracy remained unchanged 

while his comprehension scored had regressed. Student showed some improvement in 

fluency. Based on the reading intervention, Student’s reading equivalency had improved 

from fourth grade to fifth grade, still well behind his actual grade level of late 10th 
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grade. Pliha noted that Student’s continued limited reading skills would continue to 

negatively impact his learning in content–area school subjects. 

17. Based on her initial testing of Student in February 2006, as well as the 

post– academic assessments she administered to Student in May 2006, and Abramson’s 

recommendations, Pliha continued to recommend that Student complete the Fast 

ForWord program. 

18. Student’s IEP team reconvened on May 26, 2006, for the purpose of 

reviewing Abramson’s audiology report. Mother credibly testified, and District speech 

pathologist James Blinn (present at this meeting as the District’s administrative 

representative) acknowledged in his testimony, that the primary issue regarding 

Abramson’s report was her recommendation that Student receive Fast ForWord to 

address his auditory processing issues. Blinn presented the report to the IEP team. Pliha 

was also present at the meeting and discussed her assessments of Student and her 

recommendation that she too believed Student would benefit from the Fast ForWord 

program. 

19. The District did not reject the recommendation that Student receive Fast 

ForWord. Rather, Blinn informed the IEP team that he was not in a position to approve 

provision of the program that day, but that the District would review the 

recommendations and let Mother and her advocate know its decision at a later date. 

Student’s advocate pointed out that Student had been requesting the program for at 

least two years and had yet to receive it from the District or be given the reasons why 

the District would not provide it. 

20. At hearing, the parties stipulated to the fact that the District offered to 

provide Student with the Fast ForWord program at the IEP meeting the parties 

convened on June 7, 2006, as a continuation of the earlier IEP meetings. The District 

offered to provide Student with 30 sessions of the program during summer of 2006 for 
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the Extended School Year, with a proposal to review Student’s needs at the end of the 

30 sessions. The District originally wanted Pliha, who is a speech pathologist whose NPA 

had been providing Student with the Lindamood-Bell reading program, and who was 

qualified to provide Fast ForWord, to provide the services to Student. Mother, however, 

objected to using Pliha’s NPA. Although she was very happy with the NPA and thought 

very highly of Pliha, the NPA was located at some distance from Student’s home and it 

was a hardship for Mother to transport Student every day even though the District had 

reimbursed her for mileage costs. 

21. Mother therefore suggested that the District use speech pathologist Cathy 

Johnson, the owner of another agency called the Speech, Language and Learning Center 

(Learning Center), which also provided the Fast ForWord program to students with 

reading and auditory processing deficits. Johnson, the owner of the Learning Center, has 

both a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in communication disorders, and has 

been owner of the Learning Center since 1993. She has substantial experience as a 

speech pathologist and was qualified to provide Fast ForWord. The difficulty for the 

District, however, was that Johnson’s agency was not certified by the California 

Department of Education. Under the Education Code, in order for a school district to 

provide services to a student through a private agency, the district must enter into a 

master contract with that agency, and may only do so if the agency has been certified 

by the Department of Education. Since Johnson’s agency had not been certified, the 

District was unable to legally contract with her. 

22. Nonetheless, the District informed Mother that it would agree to provide 

the program through the Learning Center by reimbursing Mother for the costs of the 

program if she would agree to front them. Although Mother accepted the District’s offer 

of the Fast ForWord program with regard to the number of sessions offered, she 

objected to the reimbursement proposal at this meeting because it meant extreme 
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financial hardship to her, particularly given the high cost of the program, and therefore 

refused to agree to the District’s offer. However, Mother neither agreed at the June 7, 

2006 IEP meeting to use Pliha’s NPA, which was certified by the state, and therefore able 

to enter into a direct payment contract with the District, nor did she offer any other 

suggestions for other NPAS that could provide Fast ForWord to Student.8 Mother also 

requested that the District reimburse her for mileage costs associated with transporting 

Student to the Learning Center. 

8 There is no evidence that Fast ForWord could have been provided directly by 

District personnel to Student. 

23. Mother had a change of heart during Student’s summer break and began 

taking him to the Learning Center to receive the Fast ForWord program, which she paid 

for herself. Student’s IEP team convened a meeting on September 28, 2006, a few weeks 

after Student returned to school from summer break. At hearing, the parties stipulated 

to the fact that at this meeting the District offered to reimburse Mother for 60 sessions 

of Fast ForWord, along with mileage reimbursement for transporting Student to the 

sessions. The parties further stipulated that Mother agreed to this offer on or about 

October 30, 2006. Although there were delays in reimbursing Mother for her costs, there 

is no dispute that she was ultimately reimbursed for both the costs of the sessions for 

which she paid as well as for the licensing fee she had to pay so that the Learning 

Center could provide the program to Student. 

24. Student’s IEP team reconvened on November 6, 2006. The team noted that 

Student had completed 30 sessions of Fast ForWord, and reiterated that Mother would 

be reimbursed for the sessions as well as for her mileage costs. Significantly, the team 

also noted that Student displayed adequate progress in the program and agreed to 
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provide Student with an additional 30 sessions. However, Mother was not financially 

able to continue pre-paying for the program. 

25. Student’s IEP team reconvened again on January 5, 2007. Student’s 

advocate noted that Johnson was in the process of applying for state certification as an 

NPA which she expected to occur within 30 days of the meeting. 

26. Johnson obtained the certification as an NPA some time after the January 

5, 2007 IEP meeting. The District thereafter contacted her to arrange for Student to 

receive the additional 30 sessions of Fast ForWord. The record is unclear exactly when 

Johnson signed an individual services agreement with the District to provide the 

program to Student. The District entered two exhibits into evidence that purport to be 

contracts with Johnson and the Learning Center. The first (District’s Exhibit 25) provides 

for 16 sessions of Fast ForWord, for 50 minutes a session, to be provided to Student 

between February 6, 2007, and June 30, 2007. The second contract (District’s Exhibit 26), 

provides for 16 sessions, also of 50-minute duration, to be provided to Student between 

July 1, 2007, and November 5, 2007. The problem is that both exhibits include the same 

second page, which indicates that the District’s governing board approved the contract 

on July 16, 2007, and which indicates that the District representative signed the contract 

on July 10, 2007, and that Johnson signed on July 16, 2007. Neither Johnson nor any 

District witness was able to clarify this discrepancy when queried about it at hearing. 

27. However, what is clear from the evidence at hearing is that the second 

group of 30 sessions of Fast ForWord was never provided to Student. After being 

contacted by the District and after signing the contract, Johnson informed the District 

that she would have to pay another licensing fee to the company which owned the Fast 

ForWord program because she was required to pay a separate fee each year for each 

student who accessed the program. The fee is approximately $800. The District does not 

dispute that the licensing fee was required, that the fee had previously been paid by 
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Mother who had subsequently been reimbursed for it, along with the program costs, by 

the District, or that the contract signed by Johnson and the District only covered the 

hourly costs of the program and did not reference the licensing fee. 

28. Johnson credibly testified that she informed Mother of the problems with 

the licensing fee and that she contacted the District and informed them of the problem 

but did not hear back from them regarding payment of the fee. 

29. District Witness Anne DelFosse, who has been the District’s Director of 

Special Education since 2008, was formerly the District’s Director of Speech Services. She 

testified that after Johnson informed the District of the necessity of paying for the 

licensing fee before Student could continue to receive the second sessions of Fast 

ForWord, DelFosse telephoned Johnson and informed her that the District would pay for 

the fee if Student showed up to attend his sessions. As discussed in more detail below, 

Student had a history of refusing to access special education services, of canceling or 

not showing up for services, and of not attending classes. DelFosse testified that she did 

not want the District to have to pay an expensive licensing fee if Student was not going 

to access the Fast ForWord sessions. 

30. However, DelFosse’s testimony is in direct conflict with the argument the 

District made in its closing brief. There, the District relies on the directives of the 

Education Code to support its position that it could not directly pay Johnson for the Fast 

ForWord sessions before she was certified as an NPA, citing to the Education Code 

sections which require a school district to enter into a master contract with an NPA, as 

well as enter into an individual services contract for the specific student, before a district 

can pay the NPA for its services.9 If the District could not directly pay Johnson before 

she was certified, and if it was required to enter into a master contract and individual 

                                              
9 See Education Code sections 56035 and 56366. 
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services contract with her, which had to be approved by the District’s governing board, 

it is not plausible that Ms. DelFosse would have the authority to orally bind the District 

to pay an $800 licensing fee without the formality of amending the contract with 

Johnson. Ms. DelFosse’s testimony therefore is ultimately unpersuasive that the District 

orally agreed to pay Johnson the fee once it was informed that Student was, in fact, 

showing up to receive the Fast ForWord instruction. 

31. Additionally, the District’s position is unpersuasive because it does not 

contend that it ever informed Mother either orally or in writing that it would agree to 

pay for the licensing fee. Nor is there any indication that payment of the licensing fee 

was ever discussed at any of Student’s subsequent IEP meetings. Assuming that 

DelFosse informed Johnson of the District’s willingness to pay the fee if Student 

accessed the Fast ForWord program, Mother was never informed of this fact. Even if 

DelFosse had contacted Johnson, it appears that DelFosse expected Johnson to 

communicate this information to Mother. However, Johnson had no obligation to do so, 

and there is no reason why Mother would have accepted this representation without 

confirmation of some sort from the District, particularly in light of the fact that the 

District had adamantly refused to directly pay Johnson before she was certified because 

it could not sign a contract with her. 

32. The weight of the evidence therefore supports Student’s contention that 

the District failed to implement his IEP by failing to provide him with the second set of 

30 sessions of Fast ForWord as offered. 

Failure to Provide Speech and Language Services 

33. At hearing, the parties stipulated to the fact that at the June 7, 2006 IEP 

meeting, the District offered Student speech and language services from June 6, 2006, 

to June 6, 2007, one time a week for 55 minutes. The parties further stipulated to the 

fact that at the IEP meeting convened on January 5, 2007, the District offered Student 
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speech and language services from January 5, 2007, through June 21, 2007, twice a week 

for two 45-minute sessions. However, Student contends that the District failed to 

provide him with the sessions as offered in his IEPs.10

10 The parties did not stipulate, and Student does not allege, that he should have 

received speech and language services during summer 2006. 

 

34. The District asserts that it attempted to provide the speech and language 

sessions offered at the January 5, 2007 IEP meeting through speech and language 

pathologist Michael DelFosse, but that Student refused to attend the sessions. The 

weight of the evidence supports this contention. 

35. DelFosse started teaching at San Clemente High School in January 2007. 

He attended Student’s January 5, 2007 IEP meeting. DelFosse give clear, direct 

testimony, and was a very credible witness. He testified that he expressed concern at the 

IEP meeting that the IEP team was offering Student speech and language sessions 

before it had developed speech and language goals for him. However, the team 

determined to offer the services, and DelFosse agreed to provide them. He felt that he 

would meet with Student, perhaps administer some speech and language tests to him, 

and then develop goals and objectives that would assist him in determining exactly 

what Student’s specific unique needs were in the area of speech and language, 

particularly since DelFosse had extensive background dealing with people, like Student, 

who had suffered a traumatic brain injury. DelFosse also proposed to meet with Mother 

after having met a few times with Student, in order to discuss possible speech and 

language goals for Student. 

36. DelFosse’s normal procedure with the students to whom he provides 

services is to send out what is known as a “call slip” to see the student. He sends the slip 

to the school office, with the time he wishes to see the Student, and the office then 
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forwards the slip to the student who then is excused from that particular class period in 

order to meet with DelFosse. DelFosse sent call slips out for Student several times after 

January 5, 2007, but Student never showed up at DelFosse’s office or otherwise 

responded to the call slip. 

37. In frustration, Del Fosse at least twice went to Student’s classes in an 

attempt to convince him to come with him to attend the speech and language sessions. 

Student told DelFosse that it was “dumb” and refused to accompany him. DelFosse then 

suggested to Student that he would just come into Student’s classroom and quietly 

observe him there; Student also refused that suggestion. DelFosse called Mother to 

speak with her about his frustrations, but his call to her did not result in any change in 

Student’s attitude toward participating in the sessions. 

38. Although both Student and Mother testified after did Michael DelFosse, 

neither refuted his testimony that Student refused to attend the speech and language 

sessions DelFosse attempted to provide to Student. The District has therefore 

persuasively demonstrated that it attempted to provide Student with speech and 

language sessions after January 5, 2007, but that Student refused to access them. 

39. However, DelFosse did not begin to attempt to provide services to Student 

until after January 5, 2007. There is no evidence that the District provided or attempted 

to provide those services to Student between June 6, 2007, the date the parties 

stipulated that the District first agreed to provide speech and language to Student, and 

January 2007, when DelFosse began working at San Clemente High School. The District 

does not address in its closing brief Student’s contention that it failed to provide him 

with speech and language services as offered in the June 7, 2006 IEP as stipulated to by 

the parties. Nor did any District witness at hearing offer any explanation as to why the 

services - which were unquestionably offered - were not provided prior to January 2007. 

Since the District neither provided nor attempted to provide any of the 55-minute 
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sessions, the District’s failure to do so amounted to a material failure to comply with his 

IEP. 

40. Student, however, has failed to show that he is presently in need of speech 

and language services. Student contends that Barbara Pliha’s testimony supports his 

present need for speech and language services. In his closing brief, Student points to 

the fact that he received 195 hours of services from Pliha, and received services from 

Cathy Johnson, and made significant progress in both their programs, but that he 

requires additional services to continue making progress. 

41. The fallacy in Student’s argument as it applies to his present need for 

speech and language services is that both Pliha and Johnson provided reading 

programs to Student: Pliha provided Lindamood-Bell programs and Johnson provided 

the Fast ForWord program. Neither provided other types of speech and language 

services. The ALJ has previously found that the District failed to implement Student’s IEP 

with regard to its offer of Fast ForWord sessions and, as will be elaborated below, 

Student is entitled to compensation for that failure. All of Student’s references are to his 

need for speech and language services in the nature of reading programs to help 

Student with his reading comprehension and decoding. Additionally, assessments 

administered to Student subsequent to his graduation from high school by Johnson and 

Blinn all address Student’s reading and comprehension abilities, not any other possible 

areas of speech and language services. 

42. Therefore, Student has failed to substantiate his present need for speech 

and language services in addition to those which would be provided by providing him 

with a reading program such as Fast ForWord. Student has therefore failed to 

persuasively demonstrate that he is entitled to compensatory education in the nature of 

additional speech and language services for the District’s failure to provide him with 

speech and language sessions between June 7, 2006, and January 5, 2007. 
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Failure to Provide One-on-One Math Tutoring 

43. At hearing, the parties stipulated that at Student’s September 28, 2006 IEP 

meeting, the District offered to provide Student with math tutoring three times a week. 

Student contends that the District failed to provide the services as promised. The District 

contends that it attempted to provide Student with the tutoring, but that he refused to 

accept one math tutor offered by the District, did not want to access the services when 

the District found another tutor in spring 2007, and did not show up for appointments 

with yet another tutor in fall 2007. 

44. San Clemente High School Principal Janet Sobel accepted responsibility for 

finding a math tutor for Student once the services were offered at the September 28 IEP 

meeting. Student’s IEP team, including Mother, agreed that the District would attempt 

to find a District math teacher who would be willing to tutor Student after school for 

extra money. The team agreed that a math teacher was necessary as a tutor given 

Student’s deficits in math. 

45. Sobel credibly testified that she felt the most appropriate tutor would be 

Student’s present math teacher, Paul Barrows, since he had taught Student for several 

semesters and was aware of Student’s learning style. Barrows attended several of 

Student’s IEPs; he credibly testified that the issue of his tutoring Student was brought up 

at one of the IEP meetings and that Sobel later contacted him to confirm that he would 

be willing to volunteer. Barrows readily agreed to tutor Student because he felt he best 

knew Student and felt that if he could work with him on a one-on-one basis, he would 

be able to help Student overcome his math deficits. 

46. Student, however, refused to accept Barrows as a tutor because he had 

had a falling out with him over some classroom disciplinary issues. Although a school 

district is entirely permitted to choose the provider of special education services it offers 

to a student, and, therefore, the District here could have insisted that Barrows provide 
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the tutoring to Student, the District agreed to find another tutor for Student when 

Mother indicated Student’s unwillingness to accept Barrows. 

47. Sobel sent a communication to the teachers at San Clemente High School 

seeking volunteers to provide tutoring to Student, at the rate of $35 per hour. Other 

than Barrows, no one from the high school contacted her. Sobel therefore widened her 

search to other high schools in the District. Thereafter, a teacher from another high 

school contacted her and agreed to provide the tutoring. However, when Sobel 

contacted Mother to arrange for contact with the tutor, Mother informed her that due 

to the fact Mother was going to have surgery in late spring 2007, Mother preferred to 

wait until the Fall semester to arrange the tutoring. Mother also informed Sobel that she 

wanted to see if Student would pass the math portion of the CAHSEE before starting the 

tutoring. 

48. When school started in fall 2007, the teacher who had volunteered to tutor 

Student in spring 2007 was no longer available. Sobel therefore made yet another 

search for a tutor. A third prospective tutor responded and Sobel put her in contact with 

Student through his Mother. The math tutor later told Sobel that Student cancelled their 

first session because he felt depressed; he did not show up or call to cancel the second 

session. After Student failed to show up for the second session, the tutor contacted 

Sobel and withdrew her services. 

49. Neither Student nor any of his witnesses refuted the District’s evidence 

that the District offered at least three tutors over a period of more than a year, but that 

in each instance it was Student’s actions, or lack thereof, that prevented the tutoring 

from occurring. 

50. Student has therefore not met his burden of persuasion that the District 

failed to materially implement his IEP by failing to provide him with math tutoring. 

Rather, the evidence substantially supports the District’s position that it attempted to 
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provide the services, offering three different tutors to Student, but that in each case 

Student either refused the tutor offered or refused to access the services when offered. 

No violation of Student’s right to a FAPE occurred. 

Failure to Offer Mother Counseling and Training, Accurate Information, 

Specialized Training, and Peer-to-Peer Community Support 

51. California law defines special education as instruction designed to meet 

the unique needs of individuals with exceptional needs coupled with related services to 

enable the student to benefit from his or her instruction. The term “related services” 

includes developmental, corrective, and other supportive services as may be required to 

assist a child to benefit from special education. Parent counseling and training are 

specifically listed in the Education Code as a related service available to assist a child to 

benefit from his or her education.11

11 The term used under California statute for related services is designated 

instruction and services or “DIS.” (Ed. Code, § 56363, subd. (a).) The ALJ uses the terms 

interchangeably in this Decision. 

 

52. Student contends that the District should have offered his Mother parent 

counseling and training, access to accurate information (presumably about special 

education and Student’s specific disabilities), specialized training, and peer-to-peer 

support in the community in all IEPs developed during since March 26, 2006, when the 

relevant statute of limitations period began. Student does not specify exactly what type 

of counseling and/or training his Mother required. Student also contends that the 

District should have ensured that his Mother was a full participant in Student’s 

education, in school reform and in comprehensive systems change efforts. Student 

alleges that had Mother been offered all these services/resources, she would have 

understood the IEP process better and therefore might not have needed to hire an 
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advocate to assist her. The evidence presented by Student at hearing supports his 

contention that the District never affirmatively offered these resources or services to 

Mother in Student’s IEPs. 

53. As an initial observation, Student has failed to prove that he has a right to 

any of the services/resources he has requested for his Mother other than parent 

counseling and training.12 Student appears to base his request for the other 

services/resources listed in Factual Finding 52 on California Education Code sections 

56400 to 56414. However, those sections, codified under Chapter 4.3 of the Education 

Code, and entitled Family Empowerment Centers on Disability, do not support his 

request. These Education Code sections were enacted in order for the Legislature to 

provide for the establishment and funding of Family Empowerment Centers on 

Disability. Nothing in these sections requires a school district to affirmatively develop a 

relationship with the Centers, to refer parents to them, or defines any obligations that a 

school district might have with regard to the Centers. Therefore, the failure to offer 

Mother anything other than parent counseling and training does not violate state law 

and therefore did not deny Student a FAPE.13

12 The only services that apply to parents which are listed in the Education Code 

as related services are those for parent counseling and training. (Ed. Code, § 56363, 

subd. (b)(l1).) 

13 Nor has Student presented any evidence that the District failed to give his 

mother “accurate” information about any issue related to Student’s special education 

needs or in any other way deliberately misrepresented facts or information to her. 

 

54. Student also fails to meet his burden of proof that the District was 

required to offer Mother parent counseling and training in order to meet his unique 

needs. First, both parent counseling and training are related services which are required 
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only if needed for a student to be able to benefit from special education. There is no 

requirement that a school district offer every related service available to a student; to 

meet its legal obligations under state and federal law, the district only needs to offer 

those services required by the student to benefit from his education. Student here 

presented no evidence that Mother needed parent counseling or training in order for 

Student to benefit from his education any more than he has proven a need for any other 

related service listed in the Education Code. Nor is there any evidence that Mother ever 

requested parent counseling or training from the District or posited to Student’s IEP 

team that these services were necessary in order for Student to receive educational 

benefit. Finally, Student has not presented any evidence that he lost educational benefit 

because of the District’s failure to offer his Mother parent counseling and training. 

55. Additionally, even if she were individually entitled to receive parent 

counseling and training on her own behalf, Mother has failed to prove that she has such 

a need. Student was first found eligible for special education services in 1997. Mother 

admitted at hearing that she was provided with copies of her parental rights at every IEP 

meeting since that time. The parental rights provided to parents by the District include a 

reference to related services. The District therefore provided Mother with notice of her 

rights. Had Mother believed she had a need for the services, she was under notice of her 

rights and under notice of the applicable state and federal statutes, and could have 

requested the services. She did not ever make such a request. 

56. Additionally, the ALJ also notes that in addition to having been given 

notice of her parental rights at all IEP meetings since Student was first found eligible for 

special education services, Mother has received assistance from a special education 

advocate since at least 2004. She has specifically received special education assistance 

from Dr. Burnett since either the end of Student’s eighth grade school year or the 

beginning of his ninth grade school year, approximately mid-2004. Mother also used the 
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services of an attorney to file a prior due process complaint in 2005. If Mother’s 

advocates or attorney believed that in order to benefit from his special education 

Student’s unique needs required his Mother to receive training or counseling, they 

should have made the request on Mother’s behalf when they first began representing 

her. There is simply no evidence that the District was under notice that either Student or 

his Mother required the training and/or counseling requested, or that the failure to give 

it to Student has deprived him of educational benefit. 

57. Further, the ALJ notes that the remedy requested by Student and Mother 

for the District’s failure to offer parent counseling and training to Mother is not 

supported by either the evidence, the circumstances, or by case law. Mother requests 

reimbursement for the costs of hiring Dr. Burnett as her advocate during the statute of 

limitations period applicable to this case. First, the ALJ does not have jurisdiction to 

award costs or fees to a prevailing party in a special education case. Second, there is no 

basis under state or federal law for the payment of an advocate’s hourly fees or costs 

associated with the hiring of an advocate. Finally, even assuming that Mother was 

entitled to parent counseling and training, and assuming that she was entitled to it 

within the applicable statute of limitations, she has not shown that she would be entitled 

to more than a compensatory award in the nature of a session or two of such 

counseling and/or training, or to reimbursement for more than a session or two with 

someone she retained specifically for the purpose of providing her with parent training 

and/or counseling. Dr. Burnett did not testify at hearing and Mother did not specifically 

describe any particular session she had with Dr. Burnett that would have been in the 

nature of a parent training or counseling session. Mother’s request for reimbursement 

appears to be an attempt to circumvent the prohibition against awarding advocate’s 

fees and costs in special education proceedings. Student has shown no authority to 
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support his request and the ALJ declines to create a right not presently supported by 

statute or case law. 

58. Student has therefore failed to show that the District denied him a FAPE by 

failing to offer parent counseling and/or training to Mother. 

PROCEDURAL VIOLATIONS ALLEGED TO HAVE DENIED A FAPE TO STUDENT 

59. A procedural violation of the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act 

(IDEA) may constitute a denial of FAPE when the violation impedes the child’s right to a 

FAPE, causes a deprivation of educational benefits, or significantly impedes the parents' 

opportunity to participate in the decision making process regarding the provision of 

FAPE to their child. 

Prior Written Notice 

60. A school district must give written notice to parents before it initiates or 

refuses a change in a student’s identification, evaluation, or educational placement. The 

notice must describe the action proposed or refused, explain why the district proposes 

or refuses to take the action, describe the documents underlying the decision, describe 

the factors relevant to the decision, explain why other options were rejected, and inform 

parents of their procedural rights with respect to the decision. 

61. Student contends that the District failed to give prior written notice of the 

reasons why the District was refusing to implement Student’s IEP with regard to Fast 

ForWord, tutoring in mathematics, and/or provision of speech and language services, 

based upon offers of services in the IEPs dated April 6, 2006, April 26, 2006, May 26, 

2006, September 28, 2006, January 5, 2007, and September 11, 2007. 

62. With regard to the provision of Fast ForWord, as stated in Factual Findings 

7 – 32 above, the ALJ has found that the District failed to implement Student’s IEP 

beginning in approximately January 2007 when it failed to pay for the Fast ForWord 
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licensing fee for Student. As stated in Factual Findings 59 – 62 the District neither 

informed Mother that it would no longer provide the program nor informed her of its 

intention to pay the licensing fee. Mother therefore had no way of knowing what the 

status of the provision of the program was and whether Student had a right to those 

services. Without that information, Student was unable to access the Fast ForWord 

program, and was therefore denied the educational benefit that his IEP acknowledged at 

the November 6, 2006 IEP meeting he continued to need. The District’s failure to 

provide Student’s Mother with this prior written notice, either through an IEP meeting or 

by other written communication, therefore denied Student a FAPE. 

63. As stated in Factual Findings 33 – 42, the ALJ has found that the District 

did not provide speech and language services to Student from June 7, 2006, until 

January 5, 2007, although the District had specifically agreed to provide them. The 

evidence substantiates Student’s contention that Mother was never informed by the 

District that it would not provide the services as offered, and was therefore never given 

any explanation as to why the District simply neglected to arrange for Student to receive 

the speech and language services to which the District had committed. Since Mother 

never received this information, she was prevented from discussing the repercussions of 

failing to provide Student with the services and prevented from resolving disagreements 

with regard to the services she believed Student needed. Mother’s participation in the 

IEP process with regard to the provision to Student of speech and language services was 

therefore impeded, resulting in a denial to Student of a FAPE. 

64. However, as the ALJ has found in Factual Findings 43 – 50, the District 

never failed to implement Student’s IEPs with regard to the provision to him of one-on-

one math tutoring. Since the District attempted to deliver the services, there was no 

failure of implementation that might have required the District to provide prior written 

notice to Mother. Student has therefore failed to meet his burden of persuasion that the 

Accessibility modified document



30 

District was required to give Mother prior written notice of the reasons why it was not 

going to provide Student with math tutoring. 

Failure to Have an Appropriate IEP Team Member Present at the April 6, 

2006 IEP Meeting Who Could Interpret Abramson’s Assessment 

65. The IEP team must include specified participants, including an individual 

who can interpret the instructional implications of assessment results. This individual 

may be one of the student’s regular education teachers, one of his special education 

teachers, a district administrator, or other person having knowledge or expertise 

regarding the student; it need not be the individual who assessed the student or wrote 

the assessment report. If such an individual was not present at an IEP meeting, a 

harmless error analysis is applied to the failure to secure his or her attendance at the 

meeting. If harmless error is not found, the failure of a school district to ensure the 

presence of an appropriate individual to interpret the educational implications of 

assessment results will result in a finding that the district substantively denied a FAPE to 

the student. 

66. Student alleges that the District failed to have an appropriate person 

present at his April 6, 2006 IEP team meeting who could interpret Maria Abramson’s 

assessment report. Student contends that none of the educators or administrators 

present at the meeting was qualified or able to interpret the report and answer 

questions regarding it. The IEP team convened this meeting specifically to review 

Abramson’s report. 

67. Present at the April 6, 2006 IEP meeting were Mother and her advocate, 

speech pathologist Barbara Pliha, literacy specialist Susan Maass, speech pathologist 

James Blinn, San Clemente High School Principal Janet Sobel, and Student’s case 

manager, Margaret Flood. Audiologist Abramson was not present. The IEP notes for the 

meeting do not indicate why she was not present either in person or by telephone nor 
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did anyone at hearing give testimony as to whether Abramson was ever invited to the 

meeting. 

68. Student contends that no one present at this IEP meeting was qualified to 

present and/or interpret Abramson’s report. He contends that it was improper for 

speech pathologist Blinn to have presented the report since he is not an audiologist and 

therefore, is prohibited from interpreting an audiologist’s report by the Code of Ethics of 

the American Speech, Language and Hearing Association (ASLHA), which issued him his 

certificate of clinical competence in speech pathology. 

69. Barbara Pliha testified that ASLHA’s Code of Ethics prohibited a speech 

pathologist such as herself from interpreting an audiologist’s report. However, although 

Ms. Pliha has vast amounts of experience in her field and was an extremely credible 

witness, her position regarding a speech pathologist’s ability to discuss and/or interpret 

an audiologist’s report was contradicted both by District speech pathologist and expert 

Blinn, District speech pathologist Michael DelFosse, and District psychologist Dr. Loren 

O’Connor, all of whom were credible witnesses. Student’s witness speech pathologist 

Cathy Johnson also concurred that she was qualified to review, interpret and present an 

audiology report. Blinn, DelFosse, and Johnson credibly testified that as speech 

pathologists they are qualified to review an audiologist’s report, to draw conclusions 

based upon the report, and to make recommendations based upon the information in it. 

Indeed, Pliha did that herself in referencing Abramson’s assessment of Student in her 

speech and language assessment of Student as well as her post-academic assessment of 

him. 

70. Additionally, a review of ASLHA’s Code of Ethics reveals that nowhere does 

it prohibit a speech and language pathologist from reviewing, discussing, or even 

interpreting an audiologist’s report. There is a code which directs that ASHLA members 

or holders of certificates of competency issued by ASLHA shall only engage in those 
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aspects of their profession within the realm of their competence (code II – B) and 

another which prohibits such individuals from misrepresenting their credentials, 

competence, education, training, experience, or scholarly or research contributions 

(code III-A), neither of which address the impropriety of reviewing, interpreting, or 

making recommendations for services based on an audiologist’s report. 

71. Further, even if ASLHA prohibited a speech pathologist from making 

recommendations based upon, or from reviewing or interpreting, an audiologist’s 

report, Student has not presented any authority to substantiate his position that having 

Blinn present Abramson’s report to the IEP team violated his right to a FAPE. First, Blinn 

was extremely qualified to present the report. In addition to his training and years of 

experience as a speech pathologist, he also minored in audiology at college and has 

reviewed many audiology reports such as the one written by Abramson. There is simply 

no evidence in the record that Blinn was not able to review the report, discuss its 

recommendations and implications, and assist the IEP team in determining which 

services recommended in the report were necessary for Student to receive a FAPE. 

Under the totality of these circumstances, it was not a procedural violation to have Blinn 

present Abramson’s report at the April 6, 2006 IEP meeting. 

72. However, even if there had been a procedural violation, Student has failed 

to demonstrate any substantive loss that resulted from the District’s failure to assure 

that a more qualified person, such as an audiologist, was present at the April 6, 2006 IEP 

meeting. The evidence presented at hearing indicates that the main issue regarding 

Abramson’s report which concerned Mother was Abramson’s recommendation that 

Student receive the Fast ForWord program. The District adopted that recommendation 

when it offered the program to Student at the June 7, 2006 IEP meeting. Student has 

presented no evidence to show that his right to a FAPE was impeded, that Mother was 

significantly prevented from participating in the IEP process, or that Student suffered a 
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deprivation of educational benefit by the fact that Blinn presented Abramson’s report at 

this IEP meeting. The District’s reliance on Blinn to present Abramson’s report to the IEP 

team therefore did not deny Student a FAPE. 

Failure to Ensure the Presence of a District Administer With Authority to 

Approve Services at the May 26, 2006 IEP Meeting 

73. The IEP team must also include a district representative who, in pertinent 

part, is qualified to provide, or supervise the provision of, specially designed instruction 

to meet the unique needs of the student in question. If such an administrator was not 

present at an IEP meeting, a harmless error analysis is applied to the failure to secure his 

or her attendance at the meeting. If harmless error is not found, the failure of a school 

district to ensure the presence of an appropriate administrator will result in a finding 

that the district substantively denied a FAPE to the student. 

74. Student contends that no district representative with authority to approve 

his request for the Fast ForWord program was present at the May 26, 2006 IEP meeting 

in violation of state and federal law. He therefore contends that he was denied a FAPE. 

Student’s contention is without merit. The language of the pertinent state and federal 

statutes and regulations do not require that someone with the authority to “approve” 

services be present. The only requirement is that a district representative be present 

who is capable of providing, or supervising the provision of, the related services the IEP 

itself has approved for the Student. 

75. Speech pathologist James Blinn was the designated District representative 

at this IEP meeting. School Principal Janet Sobel generally filled that role but she was not 

available that day and Blinn substituted for her. It is without question that he informed 

the IEP team that he was not in a position to approve Fast ForWord at that meeting. 

76. However, Blinn was more than qualified to supervise the provision of the 

services the IEP determined were necessary to meet Student’s unique needs. Blinn has 
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over 30 years of experience as a speech pathologist in California. More importantly, the 

majority of those 30 years has been spent as a Department Coordinator, a Special 

Education Department Program Specialist, a Special Education Coordinator, and from 

2002 to the present, as a Director of Special Services for the District. Therefore, Student 

has failed to present persuasive evidence that the District failed to have an appropriate 

administrator present at the May 26, 2006 IEP meeting. 

77. Additionally, even assuming that Blinn was not qualified to supervise the 

provision of service to Student, Principal Janet Sobel, whom Student does not contend 

was not qualified as the District’s administrative representative, resumed her duties at 

Student’s next IEP meeting which the team convened on June 7, 2006, less than two 

weeks after the May 26, 2006 meeting. Student presented no evidence to support a 

finding that his right to a FAPE was impeded, that Mother was significantly prevented 

from participating in the IEP process, or that Student suffered a deprivation of 

educational benefit either by having Blinn represent the District at the May 26, 2006 IEP 

meeting, or by the 12-day delay in Sobel resuming her duties as the designated District 

administrative representative. No violation of Student’s right to a FAPE occurred 

Failure to Provide Mother with Reports of Student’s Progress 

78. A student’s progress on individualized IEP goals must be measured and 

reported to the parent. An IEP must include a statement of how the student’s progress 

towards the annual goals will be measured and how the student’s parents will be 

regularly informed of the student’s progress towards those goals. The failure to do so is 

a procedural violation of the IDEA. 

79. Student contends that the District failed to provide Mother with progress 

reports on his goals from March 26, 2006, to the present. He contends that Mother was 

entitled to receive a report on his progress at least as often as the rest of the general 

education student population, but that she did not. 
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80. It is unclear what type of progress reports Student contends the District 

failed to provide to Mother. There is no evidence that Student’s progress toward his 

goals or progress in school was not reviewed at his IEP meetings. Student’s IEP team 

convened at least five times in 2006 and at least three times in 2007. At the majority of 

the meetings his IEP team reviewed Student’s present levels of performance and 

progress on prior goals. At several of the meetings, Student’s teachers reviewed his 

academic progress in their classes. 

81. Additionally, pursuant to the 2006 federal regulations, a school district 

could inform parents of a student’s progress on IEP goals through such means as 

periodic report cards. There is no contention that Student failed to receive formal report 

cards of his grades at least every school semester, as did the general student 

population, and no contention that Mother did not receive notice of those grades. 

Student contends that the District’s failure to provide a separate written record of 

Student’s progress towards his goals prevented Mother from meaningfully participating 

in the IEPs and Student’s special education program. The law, however, is to the 

contrary. A parent has meaningfully participated in the development of an IEP when she 

is informed of her child’s problems, attends the IEP, expresses her disagreement 

regarding the IEP team’s conclusions and requests revisions in the IEP. There is no 

question that Mother extensively and completely participated in Student’s IEP process. 

Although Mother clearly desired to be more thoroughly involved in Student’s progress, 

none of the annual IEPs contained any special instructions which required the District to 

report to Mother on a more frequent basis than regular report cards and through the 

progress reports given by Student’s teachers at his IEP meetings. Student has therefore 

failed to sustain his burden of proof that the District denied him a FAPE by failing to 

provide additional progress reports to Mother. 
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COMPENSATORY EDUCATION 

82. Compensatory education is a permissible remedy where a child has been 

denied a FAPE and proves that he or she needs additional education or services to make 

up for education and related services the child was denied. Compensatory education is 

an equitable remedy to ensure that a child is appropriately educated within the meaning 

of the IDEA. Remedies may be limited if a parent’s actions are found to be unreasonable 

or where a weighing of the evidence does not support awarding of a particular remedy. 

83. The ALJ has found that Student met his burden of proof that the District 

denied him a FAPE by failing to implement his IEP after approximately January 2007 by 

failing to provide him with the second set of 30 sessions of the Fast ForWord program 

as offered in Student’s IEPs. The weight of the evidence also supports Student’s 

contention that the District failed to give Mother prior written notice of its reasons for 

failing to deliver the program or otherwise inform her if and how the Fast ForWord 

licensing fee would be paid to the Learning Center. The evidence also supports 

Student’s contention that he continues to have significant auditory processing deficits 

and continues to read somewhere at the fifth grade level. 

84. There is no evidence in the record which addresses what Student’s 

auditory processing and reading needs would have been at the time of the hearing had 

he received the full complement of Fast ForWord sessions as provided by his IEPs. 

However, the evidence does support the finding that Student had significant auditory 

processing and reading deficits in January 2007 when he should have begun the second 

set of Fast ForWord sessions, that he continued to suffer from those deficits at least at 

the time of the hearing in this case. Therefore, the ALJ finds it appropriate to order that 

the District provide Student with the 30 Fast ForWord sessions that Student never 

received. 

Accessibility modified document



37 

85. The District spent considerable time at hearing attempting to show that 

Student no longer needed the Fast ForWord program or that his particular auditory 

processing deficit now would not be addressed by the Fast ForWord program. The 

District offered an assessment administered to Student by speech pathologist James 

Blinn just months before the due process hearing as evidence of Student’s present 

abilities; Blinn’s assessment results basically showed Student functioning at an average 

range on the tests administered. However, Blinn himself admitted at hearing that 

because he was not able to administer a full assessment to Student (Student’s advocate 

did not allow Blinn to complete the testing) he was unable to prepare an assessment 

report due to lack of data to substantiate a report. The District also points to the fact 

that testing of Student by Johnson just prior to the hearing in this case also was 

incomplete and therefore unreliable to support Student’s position that the assessment 

demonstrated he had a continuing need for auditory processing intervention, that his 

processing deficit continues to be as severe as it was previously, or that Student would 

presently benefit from Fast ForWord. However, the result is that neither the District nor 

the Student could present reliable, complete recent assessments that concretely 

indicated his present needs. 

86. Student however was recently given a placement test by Saddleback 

College as a prerequisite to enrolling in community college classes. Student’s very low 

scores on both the mathematics and language arts tests placed him at the most basic 

level of remedial classes offered at the college. Student is having considerable difficulty 

passing the remedial courses in which he is presently enrolled. Additionally, both Pliha 

and Johnson credibly testified that Student continued to require reading intervention if 

he was going to advance beyond the fifth grade level at which he was presently reading. 

87. The District also presented evidence that Student’s underlying processing 

deficit is not, after all, susceptible to improvement through a program such as Fast 
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ForWord. However, the District’s argument is somewhat disingenuous in light of the fact 

that it was his IEP team, composed primarily of District staff, who ultimately agreed with 

Pliha’s and Abramson’s recommendations that Student would benefit from Fast 

ForWord. District speech pathologist Blinn testified that he did not disagree with any of 

Abramson’s finding or recommendations or those made by Pliha when he reviewed 

them at the IEP meetings. Significantly, at the November 6, 2006 IEP team meeting, 

Student’s IEP team specifically found that he had benefited from his first 30 sessions of 

Fast ForWord and that he should therefore receive the second set of 30 sessions offered 

by the District. The ALJ thus finds that there is sufficient evidence in the record to 

support a finding that Student would benefit from receiving the 30 sessions of Fast 

ForWord that be failed to receive as provided for in his IEPs. 

88. Finally, the Student asserts that even if Student is eligible for 

compensatory education in the form of reading intervention or support, the District can 

provide supports for him through its Adult Education program. Carol Weinell, a District 

resource specialist assigned to that program, testified to the supports given to Students 

who attend it. However, the program which Weinell oversees does not provide the type 

of reading support or intervention that Student requires. It is designed to support 

students who are approximately 18 to 22 years old, who are eligible for special 

education, and who have not graduated from high school. The program is designed to 

assist those students in obtaining skills that will permit them to successfully transition 

from high school to the adult world. The program does not provide any one-on-one 

specialized reading programs and does not serve students who have graduated from 

high school. The Adult Education program also has another division which provides 

supports to enable young adults who never received a high school diploma to either 

pass the CAHSEE or to obtain a general education diploma (GED) by offering reading 

and math supports using content curriculum and teaching strategies much as would a 
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resource specialist program class in a high school. However, no specific reading 

intervention program is available through this aspect of the Adult Education program. 

The District has thus failed to demonstrate that its Adult Education program can provide 

the type of compensatory education which Student requires. 

89. The evidence supports Student’s contention that he has at least average 

cognitive abilities and that he should have been able, with proper educational support, 

to progress beyond the fifth grade level in reading. Therefore, to remedy the violations 

of FAPE as determined in this decision, the ALJ shall order the District to provide 

Student with the 30 sessions of Fast ForWord that he should have received pursuant to 

his IEPs. Student shall be ordered to complete the session within six months of the date 

the District serves Student with notice that it has entered into a contract with the 

Learning Center, or if the Learning Center is not available, with another appropriate 

NPA. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

BURDEN OF PROOF 

1. Student, as the petitioning party, has the burden of proving the essential 

elements of his claim. (Schaeffer v. Weast (2005) 546 U.S. 49 [126 S.Ct. 528, 163 L.Ed.2d 

387].) 

ALLEGED SUBSTANTIVE VIOLATIONS 

Failure to Implement Student’s IEPs (Issue 1) 

2. Student contends that the District materially failed to implement his IEPs 

by failing to provide him with the full complement of Fast ForWord services it offered to 

him, failing to provide him with speech and language services, and failing to provide 

him with math tutoring, all of which the District admits were offered to Student in his 
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IEPs. The District contends that it never failed to implement the IEPs. Rather, it argues 

that Student’s actions alone prevented full implementation of the services at issue. In 

the alternative, the District asserts that even if it denied Student a FAPE he is not entitled 

to any compensatory education because his passing the CAHSEE and his graduation 

from high school demonstrate he did not require all the services offered in order to 

receive educational benefit. 

3. There are two parts to the legal analysis of whether a school district 

complied with the IDEA. The first examines whether the district has complied with the 

procedures set forth in the IDEA. The second examines whether the IEP developed 

through those procedures was reasonably calculated to enable the child to receive 

educational benefit. (Bd. of Educ. of the Hendrick Hudson Central Sch. Dist. v. Rowley 

(1982) 458 U.S. 176 [102 S.Ct. 3034, 73 L.Ed.2d 690] (hereafter Rowley).) 

4. To determine whether a school district substantively offered FAPE to a 

student, the adequacy of the school district’s proposed program must be determined. 

(Gregory K. v. Longview School District (9th Cir. 1987) 811 F.2d 1307, 1314.) Under 

Rowley, and state and federal statutes, one of the standards for determining whether a 

district’s provision of services substantively and procedurally provided a FAPE is whether 

the services conformed to the Student’s IEP as written by his IEP team. The IDEA defines 

a FAPE in part as "special education and related services that . . . are provided in 

conformity with the [child's] individualized education program." (20 U.S.C. § 1401(a)(9).) 

5. In Rowley, the Court found that some educational benefit had been 

conferred on the student since she achieved passing marks and advanced from grade to 

grade. (Rowley, supra, 458 U.S. at pp. 202-03.) However, the Court cautioned that it was 

not establishing any one test for measuring the adequacy of educational benefits 

conferred under an IEP. (Id. at pp. 202, 203, fn. 25.) 
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6. A failure to implement a student’s IEP will constitute a violation of the 

student’s right to a FAPE if the failure was material. There is no statutory requirement 

that a district must perfectly adhere to an IEP and, therefore, minor implementation 

failures will not be deemed a denial of FAPE. A material failure to implement an IEP 

occurs when there is more than a minor discrepancy between the services provided to a 

disabled child and those required by the IEP. A party challenging the implementation of 

an IEP must show more than a de minimis failure to implement all elements of that IEP, 

and instead, must demonstrate that the school board or other authorities failed to 

implement substantial and significant provisions of the IEP. (Van Duyn, et al. v. Baker 

School District 5J (9th Cir. 2007) 502 F.3d 811, 815 (hereafter Van Duyn).) 

7. The materiality test is not a requirement that prejudice be shown: "[T]he 

materiality standard does not require that the child suffer demonstrable educational 

harm in order to prevail." (Van Duyn, supra, 502 F.3d at p. 822.) 

8. However, a school district has the right to select a program and/or service 

provider for a special education student, as long as the program and/or provider is able 

to meet the student’s needs; IDEA does not empower parents to make unilateral 

decisions about programs funded by the public. (See, N.R. v. San Ramon Valley Unified 

Sch. Dist. (N.D. Cal. 2007) 2007 U.S. Dist. Lexis 9135; Slama ex rel. Slama v. Indep. Sch. 

Dist. No. 2580 (D. Minn. 2003) 259 F.Supp.2d 880, 885; O’Dell v. Special Sch. Dist. (E.D. 

Mo. 2007) 47 IDELR 216.) Nor must an IEP conform to a parent’s wishes in order to be 

sufficient or appropriate. (Shaw v. Dist. of Colombia (D.D.C. 2002) 238 F.Supp.2d 127, 

139 [IDEA does not provide for an “education…designed according to the parent’s 

desires.”], citing Rowley, supra, 458 U.S. at p. 207.) 

9. Here, Student has met his burden of proof that the District failed to 

implement his IEP when it failed to provide him with the second set of 30 sessions of 

Fast ForWord after it contracted to do so with Cathy Johnson’s Learning Center and that 
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the failure was material. Student was offered 60 sessions of Fast ForWord. His need for it 

was supported by both Pliha and Abramson. Student’s IEP team confirmed on 

November 6, 2006, that he had benefited from the 30 sessions of Fast ForWord that he 

had already received but that he also continued to need the additional 30 sessions that 

had been offered. By failing to contract to pay the Fast ForWord licensing fee, the 

District deprived Student of a material portion of the reading program that IEP 

determined he needed in order to benefit from his education. 

10. The District's argument that it should be relieved of liability because 

Student graduated from high school and passed the CAHSEE is unpersuasive. First, as 

discussed above, Van Duyn instructs that a child does not have to suffer a demonstrable 

harm in order to sustain his burden of proof that he was denied services mandated by 

his IEP. Second, the District’s reliance on the case of Student W. v. Puyallup Sch. Dist. 

(9th Cir. 1994) 31 F.3d 1489 (hereafter Puyallup), is misplaced. Although graduation of a 

student is a factor in determining whether a Student received FAPE, the Supreme Court 

specifically declined to find in Rowley that every disabled child who advances from 

grade to grade in a regular public school system is automatically receiving a FAPE. 

(Rowley, supra, 458 U.S. 176 at p. 203.) Subsequently, in Zobrest v. Catalina Foothills 

School Dist. (1993) 509 U.S. 1, 4 [113 S. Ct. 2462] (hereafter Zobrest) the Supreme Court 

stated a claim for reimbursement of expenses incurred while the student was attending 

high school presented a continuing controversy despite the student’s graduation from 

high school. 

11. The instant case is remarkably similar to that of San Dieguito Union High 

School District v. Jeffrey Guray-Jacobs (S.D.Calif. 2005) 44 IDELR 189, 105 LRP 56315. 

There, the student filed a due process request about one month prior to his graduation 

from high school. He alleged that he had been denied a FAPE during high school by 

several procedural violations committed by the school district which the student 
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contended denied him a FAPE because the violations resulted in a loss of educational 

opportunity. He also alleged that the school district had failed to develop appropriate 

IEPs for him and had failed to provide him with adequate transition services. As a result 

of these alleged violations, the student sought compensatory education and 

reimbursement from the district. 

The student subsequently graduated from high school. The student thereafter 

had a hearing in front of the Special Education Hearing Office (the predecessor to OAH) 

where a Hearing Officer granted student his requested relief, including compensatory 

education. The district appealed the decision to the United States District Court for the 

Southern District of California. Citing Rowley and Zobrest, as well as circuit court cases, 

the District Court found that graduation from high school was not a per se indication 

that a student had received a FAPE. The court specifically found that under the Ninth 

Circuit’s ruling in Puyallup, graduation from high school was only one of many factors to 

consider when determining whether compensatory education was justified after 

considering all equitable factors. The District Court stressed that the distinction was that 

while a student’s right to receive educational services pursuant to the IDEA terminates 

upon high school graduation his right to a remedy for a district’s failure to provide 

those services while he attended high school survives graduation. The District Court 

then found that the Hearing Officer’s award of compensatory education was supported 

by a preponderance of the evidence. 

12. Based upon the Factual Findings in this Decision, and more particularly, 

Factual Findings 2 – 5, 7 – 32 and 82 – 89, and Conclusions of Law 2 - 11, Student is 

entitled to an order for compensatory education. Student has proven by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the District denied him a FAPE by its failure to 

implement his IEP with regard to the Fast ForWord program and its failure to provide 
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Mother with prior written notice of the reasons it was not providing Student with all 

sessions of the program as directed by his IEPs. 

13. Student has requested that he be provided with compensatory education 

for three hours a day for a period of two years. However, Student has failed to provide 

any legal support for his position that he is entitled to receive an award of 

compensatory education far in excess of the services that Student failed to receive when 

the District did not fully implement his IEPs. 

14. As stated in Factual Findings 33 – 42, Student has failed to meet his 

burden of proof in demonstrating that he is entitled to a separate award of 

compensatory education due to the failure of the District to provide him with speech 

and language services from June 6, 2006, to January 5, 2007. As stated in Factual 

Findings 40 – 42, Student has failed to demonstrate that he requires any type of speech 

and language services other than access to a reading intervention program such as Fast 

ForWord to address his processing deficits. Nor has Student shown that the District 

failed to implement his IEPs by not providing him with math tutoring. Since Student did 

not meet his burden of persuasion as contended that the District failed to implement his 

IEPs with regard to math tutoring, Student is not entitled to any compensatory 

education in the area of math, irrespective of whether Student continues to have deficits 

in that area. 

15. Therefore, as stated in Factual Findings 32 and 83 – 89, the order for relief 

provides Student with compensatory education in the form of 30 sessions of Fast 

ForWord, to be provided by the Learning Center or other appropriate NPA, as ordered 

below. 
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Failure to Offer Mother Counseling and Training, Accurate Information, 

Specialized Training, and Peer-to-Peer Community Support (Issue 2) 

16. A child with a disability has the right to a free appropriate public education 

(FAPE) under the reauthorized Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act 

(IDEA 2004). (Ed. Code, §§ 56000, 56026; 20 U.S.C. § 1412(a)(1)(A).) FAPE is defined as 

special education and related services that are available to the student at no cost to the 

parent, that meet the state educational standards, and that conform to the student’s 

individualized education program (IEP). (Ed. Code, § 56031; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 5 § 3001, 

subd. (o); 20 U.S.C. § 1401(9).) The term “related services” (designated instructional 

services (DIS) in California) includes transportation and other developmental, corrective, 

and supportive services as may be required to assist a child to benefit from education. 

Parent counseling and training are possible related services under California law, if 

shown to be necessary in order for a student to benefit from special education. (Ed. 

Code, § 56363, subds. (a) & (b); 20 U.S.C. § 1401(26).) There is no requirement under 

California law that a school district must offer a student’s parent peer–to–peer 

community support or a related service other than parent counseling and/or training. 

(Ed. Code, §§ 56400 – 56414.) 

17. Based upon Factual Findings 51 – 58 and Conclusions of Law 16 Student 

has failed to meet his burden of proof that the District was required to offer Mother 

parent training and/or counseling. As stated in Factual Finding 51 – 58, Student has not 

shown that he needed for his Mother to receive training and/or counseling in order for 

him to benefit from his special education, and has failed to demonstrate that he has lost 

any such educational benefit because Mother did not receive those services. 

Additionally, the evidence at hearing established that Mother had received a copy of her 

parental rights at every IEP meeting she attended since Student was found eligible for 

special education and that Mother had been advised by special education advocates 

and by an attorney years before the statute of limitations began to run in this case. The 
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evidence also indicates that neither Mother nor her legal representatives ever requested 

that the District provide her with parent counseling or training. Therefore, even 

assuming Mother had an individual right to receive parent training or counseling, she 

has failed to prove that she required it. The District therefore did not deny Student a 

FAPE by failing to offer his Mother parent training and/or counseling since March 26, 

2006, when the statute of limitations began to run in this case. 

ALLEGED PROCEDURAL VIOLATIONS 

18. The IDEA requires that a due process decision be based upon substantive 

grounds when determining whether the child received a FAPE. (Ed. Code, § 56505, subd. 

(f)(1).) A procedural violation therefore only requires a remedy where the procedural 

violation impeded the child’s right to a FAPE, significantly impeded the parent’s 

opportunity to participate in the decision-making process regarding the provision of a 

FAPE to the parent’s child, or caused a deprivation of educational benefits. (20 U.S.C. § 

1415(f)(3)(E); Ed. Code, § 56505, subds. (f)(2)(A)-(C); Rowley, supra, 458 U.S. at pp. 206-

07; see also Amanda J. v. Clark County Sch. Dist. (9th Cir. 2001) 267 F.3d 877, 892. 

(hereafter Amanda J.).) Procedural violations which do not result in a loss of educational 

opportunity or which do not constitute a serious infringement of parents’ opportunity to 

participate in the IEP formulation process are insufficient to support a finding that a 

pupil has been denied a free and appropriate public education. (W.G. v. Bd. of Trustees 

of Target Range Sch. Dist. No. 23 (9th Cir. 1992) 960 F.2d 1479, 1483 (hereafter Target 

Range).) Procedural errors during the IEP process are subject to a harmless error 

analysis. (M.L., et al., v. Federal Way School District (9th Cir. 2004) 394 F.3d 634, 650, fn. 9 

(lead opn. of Alarcon, J.).) 
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Prior Written Notice (Issue 3(A)) 

19. A school district is required to provide prior written notice to the parents 

of the child whenever the LEA proposes to initiate or change, or refuses to initiate or 

change, the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of the child, or the 

provision of a free appropriate public education to the child. (20 U.S.C. §1415(b)(3); Ed. 

Code, §56500.4.) The notice given to the parents or guardian must meet the 

requirements specified in title 20 United States Code section 1415(c)(1). The LEA may 

give prior written notice in advance of an IEP meeting, and the LEA may use the IEP as 

the prior written notice as long as it meets all of the requirements of the IDEA. (34 C.F.R. 

§ 300.503(a); 71 Fed.Reg. 46691 (August 14, 2006).) 

20. Student contends that the District failed to give Mother prior written 

notice of its reasons for failing to implement Student’s IEPs with regard to the provision 

of the Fast ForWord reading program, speech and language services, and one-on-one 

math tutoring. 

21. As stated in Factual Findings 59 – 62, Student has met his burden of proof 

that the District did not provide prior written notice to Mother either regarding its 

decision not to pay the Fast ForWord licensing fees, or, alternatively, its conversation 

with Johnson informing her that if Student showed up for his reading sessions, the 

District would pay the licensing fee. Student has shown that the District’s failure to do so 

impeded his Mother’s ability to participate in the IEP process, and therefore denied 

Student a FAPE. 

22. With regard to the alleged failure of the District to provide Mother with 

prior written notice of the reasons it was failing to implement his IEPs as to the provision 

of speech and language services, as stated in Factual Findings 59 – 60 and 63, Student 

has met his burden of proof with as to the failure of the District to provide speech and 

language services from June 6, 2006, to January 5, 3007. However, Student has failed to 
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meet his burden of proof that he is entitled to an award of compensatory education in 

the area of speech and language. Student has failed to show that he requires any 

speech and language services other than the second set 30 sessions of Fast ForWord 

that he should have received pursuant to his IEPs. Therefore, the ALJ finds that Student 

has failed to demonstrate that any additional remedy is appropriate for the District’s 

failure to give Mother notice that it was not going to provide Student with speech and 

language services from June 6, 2006, to January 5, 2007. (Factual Findings 59 – 60, 63; 

Conclusions of Law 18 and 19.) 

23. However, Student has failed to show by a preponderance of the evidence 

that the District failed to implement his IEP with regard to the provision of math 

tutoring. Since the District did not fail to implement that related service, there can be no 

finding that it failed to give prior written notice to Student’s Mother as to the reasons 

why it was failing to implement this portion of Student’s IEP. (Factual Findings 43 – 50, 

59 – 60, and 64; Conclusions of Law 18 – 19.) 

Failure to Have an Appropriate IEP Team Member Present at the April 6, 

2006 IEP Meeting Who Could Interpret Abramson’s Assessment (Issue 

3(B)) 

24. An IEP team must include at least one parent, a representative of the local 

educational agency who, in pertinent part, is qualified to provide, or supervise the 

provision of, specially designed instruction to meet the unique needs of individuals with 

exceptional needs, and an individual who can interpret the instructional implications of 

the assessment results. This person may be a regular education teacher, a special 

education teacher, a District administrator, or other individual having knowledge or 

special expertise regarding the student; it need not be the individual who assessed the 

student and/or prepared the assessment report. (20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(B)(i), (iv-vi); Ed. 

Code, § 56341, subds. (b)(1), (5-6).) 
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25. Student contends that the District denied him a FAPE because it failed to 

ensure that someone qualified to interpret Maria Abramson’s audiology assessment and 

report was present at Student’s April 6, 2006 IEP meeting. However, as stated in Factual 

Findings 65 – 72, Student’s contention is not supported by the evidence. Speech 

Pathologist Blinn presented Abramson’s report to the IEP team. The weight of the 

evidence supports a finding that Blinn was qualified to do so. Additionally, Student has 

failed to produce any evidence that he was denied a FAPE, lost any educational benefit, 

or that his Mother was deprived of her ability to participate in the IEP process because 

Blinn, rather than an audiologist, presented Abramson’s report. Student has failed to 

meet his burden of persuasion on this issue. (Factual Findings 65 – 72; Conclusions of 

Law 18 and 24.) 

Failure to Ensure the Presence of a District Administer With Authority to 

Approve Services at the May 26, 2006 IEP Meeting (Issue 3(C)) 

26. As stated in Conclusion of Law 24, Student’s IEP team must also include a 

district representative who is qualified to provide, or supervise the provision of, specially 

designed instruction to meet the unique needs of individuals with exceptional needs. 

Student contends that he was denied a FAPE because James Blinn, who substituted for 

Principal Sobel at the May 26, 2006 IEP team meeting, stated that he was not in a 

position to approve provision of the Fast ForWord program to Student at the time of 

the meeting. 

27. However, as stated in Factual Findings 73 – 77, Student has failed to 

demonstrate that this procedural violation amounted to anything more than harmless 

error. As stipulated to by Student at hearing (Joint Exhibit 1), the District agreed to 

provide Student with the Fast ForWord program at the June 7, 2006 IEP meeting, held 

less than two weeks after the meeting on May 26, 2006. Any delay in authorizing the 

program was thus minimal. Additionally, Student has failed to demonstrate that he was 
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denied a FAPE, lost any educational benefit, or that the delay impeded his Mother’s 

rights to participate in the IEP process. Having failed to prove that Blinn’s lack of 

authority resulted in a substantive loss of FAPE to him, Student has failed to meet his 

burden of proof as to this issue. (Factual Findings 73 – 77; Conclusions of Law 18, 24, 

and 26.) 

Reports of Progress (Issue 3(D)) 

28. A student’s progress must be measured and reported to the parent. States 

must establish and maintain procedural safeguards to ensure that each student with a 

disability receives the FAPE to which the student is entitled, and that parents are 

involved in the formulation of the student’s educational program. (Target Range, supra, 

960 F.2d. at p. 1483.) Citing Rowley, the court also recognized the importance of 

adherence to the procedural requirements of the IDEA, but indicated that procedural 

flaws do not automatically require a finding of a denial of a FAPE. (Id. at p.1484.) While 

the required elements of the IEP further important policies, “rigid ‘adherence to the 

laundry list of items [required in the IEP]’ is not paramount.” (Ibid.) 

29. Further, title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations, part 300.320, 

subdivision (a)(3)(ii) only states that the IEP shall include a statement of how the 

student’s parents will be regularly informed (through such means as periodic report 

cards), at least as often as parents are informed of their non-disabled children’s 

progress. This regulation is in direct contrast to the predecessor regulation, title 34 Code 

of Federal Regulations, part 300.347, subdivision (a)(7), which also mandated that 

parents be informed of their child’s progress toward his annual goals as the extent to 

which that progress is sufficient to enable the child to achieve the goals by the end of 

the year. In its comments to the 2006 Regulations, the United States Department of 

Education indicated that it declined to include the previous language, or any further 

description of what type of progress reports a district was required to provide to 
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parents. Rather, the Department of Education cited to the language found in the IDEA 

(20 U.S.C. § 1414(d)(1)(A)(i)(III)) for the proposition that there is no requirement for a 

specific type of progress report nor any requirement that progress reports be given at 

specified intervals. Rather, the Department of Education stated that “the specific times 

that progress reports are provided to parents and the specific manner and format in 

which a child’s progress toward meeting the annual goals is reported is best left to State 

and local officials to determine.” (71 Fed.Reg. 46664 (Aug. 14, 2006).) 

30. As stated in Factual Findings 78 – 81, Student’s IEP team reviewed his 

progress on goals, his present levels of performance, and his academic progress in his 

classes, at many of his numerous IEP meetings during 2006 and 2007. In addition, 

Student received report cards at least as often as did the general education student 

population and there is no evidence that these report cards were not conveyed to 

Mother. Student has therefore failed to meet his burden that the District failed to 

provide his Mother with reports of his progress or was required to provide a different 

type or more numerous reports than it did. (Factual Findings 78 – 81; Conclusions of Law 

18 and 28 – 29.) 

COMPENSATORY EDUCATION 

31. When a district fails to provide a FAPE to a student with a disability, the 

student is entitled to relief that is “appropriate” in light of the purposes of the IDEA. (20 

U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2)(C)(3); School Committee of Burlington v. Department of Educ. (1985) 

471 U.S. 359, 369-371 [105 S.Ct. 1996, 85 L.Ed.2d 385].) Based on the principle set forth 

in Burlington, federal courts have held that compensatory education is a form of 

equitable relief that may be granted for the denial of appropriate special education 

services to help overcome lost educational opportunity. (Puyallup, supra, 31 F.3d at p. 

1496.) The purpose of compensatory education is to “ensure that the student is 

appropriately educated within the meaning of IDEA.” (Ibid.) The award must be 
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reasonably calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would have accrued 

from special education services the school district should have supplied. (Reid, etc. v. 

District of Columbia (D.D.C. Cir. 2005) 401 F.3d 516, 524.) 

32. Student is entitled to relief based upon the ALJ’s finding that the District 

failed to implement Student’s IEP with regard to the provision of the second set of 30 

sessions of Fast ForWord that he was offered by the District, as well as the District’s 

failure to give Mother prior written notice of the reasons for failing to implement that 

portion of Student’s IEP. Student has requested compensatory services for two years, far 

in excess of what the District offered but failed to implement. Student has provided no 

support for the proposition that a student is entitled to services in excess of those he 

was originally found to need, or to services that will maximize his ability to successfully 

succeed in college. To the contrary, Rowley stands for the proposition that a school 

district is not obligated to maximize a student’s potential. If a district is not required to 

maximize a student’s potential in the initial provision of special education services, it 

cannot be found to be obligated to maximize a student’s potential as a compensatory 

remedy for a FAPE violation. 

33. Considering the equities of the case, including the fact that the ALJ has 

found that the District committed two violations of Student’s rights relative to the 

provision of the Fast ForWord program, and considering the fact that Student continues 

to read only at approximately a fifth grade level, the ALJ finds that Student is entitled to 

receive the 30 sessions of Fast ForWord that the District failed to assure he received 

pursuant to his June 7, 2006 IEP and his IEPs subsequent to that date. Student is also 

entitled to mileage costs from his home to the NPA where he receives the Fast ForWord 

instruction as had been offered in his IEPs. Finally, given Student’s history of failing to 

access services, the ALJ shall direct that Student be given six months from the date the 

District serves him with a copy of the fully executed contract with the Learning Center, 
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or other appropriate NPA as described in the following Order, in order to receive the 

Fast ForWord instruction. Student shall forfeit any sessions not accessed within those six 

months. 

ORDER 

1. Within 45 days of the date of this Decision, the District shall enter into a 

contract with Cathy Johnson’s Learning Center to provide Student with 30 sessions of 

Fast ForWord training. The contract shall include payment for the cost of the Fast 

ForWord licensing fee in addition to the hourly cost for all 30 sessions. If the Learning 

Center cannot or will not provide the services, the District shall contract with another 

NPA qualified to provide the Fast ForWord program that is located no farther than 30 

miles from Student’s present place of residence. 

2. The District shall reimburse Student for the cost of his mileage between his 

present home and the Learning Center, or other appropriate NPA if the Learning Center 

is not available, pursuant to standard District practices for the reimbursement of mileage 

expenses. 

3. The timing of the delivery of the services above shall be coordinated at the 

discretion of Student and the NPA. 

4. Student shall forfeit any sessions he has not accessed within six months 

from the date the District serves him with a copy of the fully executed contract with the 

Learning Center, or other appropriate NPA as described in paragraph 1 of this Order. 

5. All other requests for relief are denied. 

PREVAILING PARTY 

Education Code section 56507, subdivision (d), requires that the hearing decision 

indicate the extent to which each party has prevailed on each issue heard and decided. 
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Student fully prevailed on Issue 1(A) and partially prevailed on Issues 1(B) and 3(A). The 

District prevailed on all other issues heard and decided. 

RIGHT TO APPEAL THIS DECISION 

The parties to this case have the right to appeal this Decision to a court of 

competent jurisdiction. If an appeal is made, it must be made within ninety days of 

receipt of this decision. (Ed. Code, § 56505, subd. (k).) 

 

DATED: January 21, 2009 

 

_______________/s/____________ 

Darrell Lepkowsky 

Administrative Law Judge 

Office of Administrative Hearings 
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